ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Florence County  
William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**

MAR 20 2014

**S.C. Supreme Court**

CHRISTOPHER MCLEOD,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000930  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

WANDA H. CARTER  
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## ISSUE PRESENTED

Trial counsel erred in failing to pursue plea negotiations on the offenses of assault and unlawful conduct charged against petitioner in order to gain lenient and/or concurrent sentences in return, particularly since petitioner admitted guilt and desired to plead guilty on those two charges because this strategy would have produced a more favorable ending than the trial that was held on all four charges, i.e., those two charges, which yielded guilty verdicts and consecutive sentences, and two additional charges (sex offenses) that resulted in acquittals.

## STATEMENT

Petitioner Christopher McLeod was tried on the offenses of first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, lewd act on a minor, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, and unlawful conduct towards a child during the March 2010 term of the Florence County General Sessions Court before Judge Thomas A. Russo. Petitioner was acquitted on the lewd act and criminal sexual conduct charges, but found guilty on the offenses of aggravated assault and unlawful conduct towards a child. Petitioner was sentenced to consecutive sentences of ten years and seven years respectively. App. 1-504. Karen E. Parrott and William V. Meetze represented petitioner at trial and Assistant Solicitor Robert N. Wells appeared on behalf of the state.

Petitioner appealed his convictions and sentences and was represented on direct appeal by Robert M. Pachak, who filed a final Anders Brief of Appellant in the case on December 20, 2010. Petitioner subsequently dropped his appeal, which was dismissed by Order of the Court of Appeals on January 27, 2011. App. 516.

On January 11, 2011, petitioner filed a PCR application with the Florence County Office of the Clerk of Court. App. 507 – 514. The respondent filed a return dated March 19, 2013, requesting that a hearing be held in response to petitioner's PCR action. App. 515-518.

A PCR hearing was held on February 26, 2013, at the Florence County Courthouse before Judge William H. Seals. App. 521 – 575. Petitioner was present at the hearing and represented by Bryan W. Braddock, and Assistant Attorney General Tyson Andrew Johnson appeared on behalf of the state. On March 19, 2013, Judge Seals issued an Order of Dismissal denying petitioner's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel in the case. App. 577 – 582.

Petitioner appealed Judge Seal's Order of Dismissal. This petition follows.

## ARGUMENT

Trial counsel erred in failing to pursue plea negotiations on the offenses of assault and unlawful conduct charged against petitioner in order to gain lenient and/or concurrent sentences in return, particularly since petitioner admitted guilt and desired to plead guilty on those two charges because this strategy would have produced a more favorable ending than the trial that was held on four charges, i.e., those two charges, which yielded guilty verdicts and consecutive sentences and two additional charges (sex offenses) that resulted in acquittals.

At trial, Shante Kent Clarke testified that during July 2006, she allowed petitioner to take care of their daughter, who was two years old at that time, because he (petitioner) was living with his sister Niosha Williams. Clark stated that when their child was returned to her on July 26, 2006, there were bruises on the child's vagina and behind. App. 105, l. 2 - p. 110, l. 24. Petitioner's sister Niosha Williams testified that she also saw the bruises on that date and notified the police. App. 113, l. 2 - p. 125, l. 3. State's witness James C. Gregory, who was a police officer at that time, testified that after seeing the child's bruises, he had petitioner arrested. App. 134, l. 18 - p. 137, l. 2.

Petitioner testified in his defense at trial and explained that he spanked his daughter on her rear end by the use of his hand and a switch for cursing and having a bowel movement on the floor, and went on to admit his guilt on the assault and unlawful conduct charges, but insisted that he did not commit any lewd act or act of criminal sexual conduct on the child. App. 349, l. 3 - p.391, l. 25. Petitioner's trial testimony follows:

Defense Counsel: So you admit that you hit your child in a way that you shouldn't have?

Petitioner: I do admit that....[but] these sexual charges, I have nothing to do with that 'cause I didn't do it. App. 391, line 13 - 15; App. 391, l. 24 - p. 392, l. 1.

During the PCR hearing, petitioner testified that he had informed counsel that there was sufficient evidence to convict him on the assault and unlawful conduct charges, and that he was willing to plead guilty on those two charges. In effect, petitioner's PCR testimony was that since he desired to plead on those two charges, then he needed counsel to initiate a plea deal on the same and then proceed to trial only on the sex charges that he did not commit. Petitioner stated that had he pled guilty on the assault and unlawful conduct charges, then he would have received more lenient sentences in comparison to the consecutive sentences (seventeen years) that he received by the trial judge after having been convicted on those two charges at trial. Petitioner added that trial counsel advised him that a deal where the charges were split up via pleas on those charges in question and a trial on the remaining sex charges was impossible. App. 528, l. 7 - p. 530, l. 24. Petitioner explained how he was prejudiced by counsel's error as follows:

PCR Counsel: [Y]our contention [is] that you lost the benefit of the plea by not pleading guilty to the two charges to which you were ready to plead guilty?

Petitioner: Yes, sir.

PCR Counsel: Okay. And is it your position then that the likelihood of receiving consecutive sentences as a result of the plea to the two charges of ABHAN and unlawful conduct would have been substantially less than the result that you received as a result of going to trial on those charges?

MR. MCLEOD: Yes, sir. App. 532, l. 14 – p. 533, l.1.

MR. BRADDOCK: is it your position that as a result of that failure [to negotiate the please at issue is] why you were prejudiced?

MR. MCLEOD: Yes, sir. App. 533, lines 10-12.

Note that after petitioner was acquitted on the sex charges and prior to sentencing, the trial judge questioned defense counsel as to why petitioner was not allowed to plead guilty on the assault and unlawful conduct charges (which he admitted committing at trial) as follows:

Defense Counsel: Your Honor, and I do think it's important to let you know and remind you, as I'm sure you heard, but still that [petitioner] was willing to plead to this, these two charges all along. This is what he said he was guilty of from the moment that our file was opened, and I would ask that you take in consideration exactly that the jury has found that credible and –

The Court: Why didn't he plead to those [assault and unlawful conduct charges] and then go to trial on the sex offenses?

Defense Counsel: Your Honor, there was no offer to just let him plead to just those two charges. It was taken as an offer with everything with the lewd act as well. It was never just I'll let you plead to those two and do the other two.

The Court: How can they stop you?

Solicitor: Your Honor, I need—yeah, if I'd been you know, I'd say that I would take a plea...if they said he wanted a trial on the other two and plead to these two I'd certainly take a plea on those two [assault and unlawful conduct charges].

The Court: They can't stop him from doing that.

Defense Counsel: Your Honor, it was not done so I, you know, whether that's my fault of then or not articulating it well with Mr. Wells it certainly was never offered. App. 495, l. 16 – p. 496, l. 13.

Assistant Solicitor Wells, who prosecuted the case, testified at the PCR hearing and stated that if counsel had asked, then he would have been amenable to taking a plea from petitioner on the assault and unlawful conduct charges and trying petitioner on the sex charges; and that he would not have made any recommendations regarding concurrent or consecutive sentencing on the assault and unlawful conduct pleas, but rather deferred to the judge's sentencing discretion in the case since judges usually reward defendants with favorable sentences in exchange for entering guilty pleas.

App. 540, l.1 – p. 541, l. 1; App. 551, lines 10-18; App. 549, lines 3-12. Assistant Solicitor Wells admitted that the trial judge was “aggravated” at petitioner’s sentencing hearing over why a trial was held on the two charges to which petitioner admitted guilt. App. 541, l. 2 – p. 542, l. 6.

Trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing and explained that petitioner desired to plead guilty on the assault and unlawful conduct charges after admitting that he committed those crimes, but that the plea offer she obtained included the lewd act charge (the criminal sexual conduct charge was dropped), which petitioner rejected. Counsel added that the solicitor never offered a plea deal on the assault and unlawful conduct charges only. App. p. 556, l. 20 – 559, l.15. Trial counsel stated further that there was no guarantee that pleading guilty on the assault and unlawful conduct charges would have yielded concurrent sentences rather than consecutive sentences; so therefore, her strategy was to allow petitioner to testify at trial as to what he did and did not do and have the jury decide the case. App. 564, l. 2- p. 14; App. 565, l. 9 – 14; App 569, l. 23- p. 570, l. 2.

The PCR judge denied and dismissed petitioner’s claim that but for counsel’s error in failing to negotiate a plea deal that would have allowed him to plead guilty on the assault and unlawful conduct charges, then he would not have received consecutive sentences as such a claim was speculative because sentencing is a matter of judicial discretion. App. 579 – 581.

In the case at bar, the solicitor and trial judge were amenable to accepting pleas from petitioner on the assault and unlawful conduct charges and having a trial on the sex charges. Therefore, counsel erred in failing to pursue plea negotiations on these two charges because this deprived petitioner of the benefit of lesser or concurrent sentences on what could have been guilty plea convictions and avoided consecutive sentences on the two charges (17 years) that he received after being convicted at trial. Thus, a trial on the assault and unlawful conduct charges was unnecessary. Counsel erred in failing to proactively initiate and press for a plea bargain on those

two charges and ask for a trial on the sex charges only rather than bowing to a trial on all four charges. Counsel had a duty to bargain for a split case because this was reasonable under the circumstances.

Counsel has a duty to initiate plea negotiations when such an engagement would be reasonable or where the prosecution would agree to a particular plea offer. Van Wart v. United States, 2013 WL 88535 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2013). In Van Wart, however, the defendant desired a trial and did not want to plead guilty. By comparison, however, note the case of United States v. Pender, 2013 WL 1137452 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2013), where the Court remanded for a hearing on trial counsel's failure to pursue plea negotiations in a drug and firearm case where the defendant faced a mandatory life sentence if convicted (which happened); and as a result, the Court held that counsel's performance appeared unreasonable, particularly since the government's position was that a plea bargain and matching beneficial sentences would have been accepted had trial counsel initiated negotiations in the case. The Pender Court's rationale follows:

The district court correctly noted that there is no constitutional right to a plea agreement and that the decision to initiate plea negotiations is a strategic decision within the purview of the defense counsel. See Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 545, 561, 97 S. Ct. 837, 51 L. Ed. 2<sup>nd</sup> 30 (1977); Hawkman v. Parrott, 661 F. 2<sup>nd</sup> 1161, 1171 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1981). However, counsel is still required to be a "reasonably effective advocate" regarding the decision to seek a plea bargain. Brown v. Doe, 2 F. 3<sup>rd</sup> 1236, 1246 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1993). Thus if [the defendant] could show, as he alleged, that there was no reasoned strategy to his attorney's decision not to pursue a plea bargain, we conclude that [the defendant] would have satisfied the first Strickland prong and shown that his attorney's action were unreasonable.

Here, counsel's trial strategy of having petitioner testify at trial on all four charges and allow the jury to sort out the truth constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. Counsel's error resulted in a waste of judicial resources because there was no need for a trial on charges where one admitted

guilt. Moreover, counsel's error was particularly egregious in light of the fact that the solicitor and trial judge would have accepted petitioner's pleas if counsel had pursued the split arrangement strategy of a plea on the two charges and a trial on the remaining sex charges.


Counsel must articulate a valid reason for exercising a certain strategy in order to avoid being found ineffective and that reason must be measured under an objective standard of reasonableness. See Vail v. State, 402 S.C. 77, 738 S.E. 2<sup>nd</sup> 503 (2013). In Vail, the Court held that trial counsel erred in failing to object to multiple instances of hearsay testimony in a criminal sexual conduct case where prejudice resulted from the cumulative effects of the hearsay testimony. The Vail Court held further that the trial counsel's defense of offering transparency before the jury was not a valid trial strategy to justify failing to object to the hearsay testimony in the case.

The Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel in criminal cases includes claims of deficient representation during the plea bargaining process. Lafler v. Cooper, 32 S. Ct. 1376 2012). See also Judge v. State, 321 S.C. 554, 471 S.E.2d 146 (1996). In Lafler, the Court held that but for counsel's error, the defendant would have accepted a plea and received a less severe conviction, sentence, or both. Here, trial counsel's error in failing to pursue plea negotiations on the assault and unlawful conduct charges constituted deficient representation in violation of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. But for counsel's error in this regard, a reasonable probability exists that petitioner's prison sentences on the assault and unlawful conduct convictions would have been more favorable.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument, petitioner requests that this Court grant the petition and allow full briefing on the issued presented above.