STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-000930

Christopher McLeod, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI

RECEIVED

JUL -9 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA L. THOMAS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100777

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the post-conviction judge properly find trial counsel was not ineffective in allowing Petitioner to proceed to trial on all four charges where Petitioner did not want to accept a plea, where trial counsel articulated a valid strategy for proceeding on all charges, and where Petitioner was not prejudiced by his decision to proceed to trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In January 2007, the Florence County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, lewd act on a minor, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, and unlawful conduct towards a child. (App. pp. 583-85). Karen E. Parrott, Esquire, (“trial counsel”) represented Petitioner. (App. p. 1). Petitioner proceeded to trial before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo and a jury on March 8, 2010. (App. p. 1). The jury found Petitioner guilty of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature and unlawful conduct towards a child. (App. p. 492, lines 9-14). The jury found Petitioner innocent of first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and lewd act on a minor. (App. p. 492, lines 5-9). Judge Russo sentenced Petitioner to consecutive terms of ten (10) years for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature and seven (7) years for unlawful conduct towards a child. (App. p. 503, line 23-p. 504, line 7).

Trial counsel filed a notice of appeal, and Robert M. Pachak, Esquire, of the South Carolina Office of Appellate Defense, perfected Petitioner’s appeal with the filing of an Anders¹ brief. (App. p. 516). Petitioner voluntarily withdrew his appeal, and the South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal by order dated January 27, 2011. (App. p. 506).

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on January 11, 2011. (App. pp. 507-14). Bryan W. Braddock, Esquire, represented Petitioner. (App. p. 521). The Honorable William H. Seals, Jr. (“the post-conviction judge”) convened an evidentiary hearing into the application at the Florence County Courthouse on February

¹ Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967)

26, 2013. (App. p. 521). Assistant Attorney General T. Andrew Johnson, Esquire, represented Respondent. (App. p. 521) The post-conviction judge denied relief in an order dated March,19, 2013, and filed March 21, 2013. (App. pp. 577-582).

ARGUMENT

I. Probative evidence supports the post-conviction judge's finding trial counsel was not ineffective for allowing Petitioner to proceed to trial on all four charges.

Petitioner asserts the post-conviction judge erred by finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing allowing Petitioner to plea to the assault and unlawful conduct charges. However, probative evidence supports the post-conviction judge's findings. Therefore, Respondent submits the post-conviction judge properly denied Petitioner's application.

In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in the application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (citing Griffin v. Martin, 278 S.C. 620, 300 S.E.2d 482 (1983)). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of trial counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Id. (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984)).

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687; Turner v. Bass, 753 F.2d 342 (4th Cir. 1985); Marzullo v. Maryland, 561 F.2d 540 (4th Cir. 1977)). The Court strongly presumes trial counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989).

The Court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. Id. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625. First, the applicant must prove trial counsel's performance was deficient. Id. Under this prong, the Court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, trial counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

On appeal, this Court must affirm the circuit judge's denial of post-conviction relief when there is probative evidence to support the findings of the circuit judge. Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 163, 485 S.E.2d 367, 369 (1997) (citing McCray v. State, 317 S.C. 557, 455 S.E.2d 686 (1995); Cherry, 300 S.C. at 115, 386 S.E.2d at 624)).

Applicant testified he freely admitted his guilt to the assault and unlawful conduct charges, but always denied his guilt on the criminal sexual conduct and lewd act charges. (App. p. 528, lines 406). He also said he was always willing to plead to the assault and unlawful conduct charges. (App. p. 528, lines 13-17). He attempted to claim he was never told he could plea to just two of the charges. (App. p. 529, lines 12-19). However, he did admit he knew he would lose credibility with the jury if he pled to two of the four charges before trial. (App. p. 529, line 24-p.530, line 4).

The prosecuting solicitor testified he would have allowed Petitioner to plead to the assault and unlawful conduct charges and go to trial on the criminal sexual conduct and lewd act charges if trial counsel had requested it. (App. p. 540, lines 5-12). However, he further testified he had never, in his thirty (30) years of experience, seen a defendant plead to some charges and go to trial on other charges. (App. p. 540, lines 17-

25). He also testified he would have only allowed Petitioner to enter a plea without negotiations or recommendations, and would have asked the trial judge to determine the sentence. (App. p. 543, lines 6-7; p. 551, lines 15-17).

Trial counsel testified Petitioner eventually admitted his guilt to all four charges. (App. p. 558, lines 8-16). She recalled attempting to enter a plea in front of another judge when Petitioner “balked” and decided he wanted to go to trial. (App. p. 559, lines 1-4). She recalled asking the prosecuting solicitor numerous times for plea offers, but whenever offered a plea that did not include either the criminal sexual conduct or lewd act charge. (App. p. 574, lines 3-8, p. 562, lines 19-22). She further testified she believed it made more sense for Petitioner to proceed to trial on all four charges and admit his guilt to two them, thereby gaining credibility with the jury. (App. p. 563, lines 13-17). She also believed the prosecuting solicitor would have postponed the inevitable trial on more serious sexual crimes while Petitioner served his sentence on the lesser assault crimes. (App. p. 569, lines 6-8). Trial counsel testified she advised Petitioner to enter a plea, but he decided to go to trial. (App. p. 565, lines 17-21). She also maintained the position that sentencing is within the judge’s discretion, and she could not guarantee any sentence if Petitioner had entered a plea to the two lesser charges. (App. p. 569, line 23-p. 570, line 2). She testified it was speculation to assume Petitioner would have received a lesser sentence if he had entered such a plea. (App. p. 564, lines 13-16).

The record supports the post-conviction judge’s determination trial counsel was not deficient in her representation of Petitioner. The State has the discretion to offer a defendant the opportunity to enter a plea as opposed to calling a case for trial. State v. Blakely, 402 S.C. 650, 658, 742 S.E.2d 29, 33 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 735 S.E.2d 471 (2012)). Trial counsel has no affirmative duty to

request certain plea offers from the State. Van Wart v. United States, CRIM. RWT-07-0492, 2013 WL 3788535, at *3 (D. Md. July 18, 2013) (quoting United States v. Pender, 514 Fed. Appx. 359 (4th Cir. 2013) (unpublished)).² Furthermore, a defendant cannot force the State to accept the terms of his proposed plea offer. See, e.g. State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 389, 652 S.E.2d 444, 454 (Ct. App. 2007) (“The State is not bound to accept a defendant's terms simply because a defendant reveals otherwise undiscoverable facts in the hope of securing a favorable plea agreement.” (citing State v. Whipple, 324 S.C. 43, 476 S.E.2d 683 (1996))). Here, trial counsel testified she requested several plea offers from the prosecuting solicitor and never received an offer satisfactory to Petitioner. She advised Petitioner to plead guilty, but he insisted upon a trial. In light of this testimony, no evidence supports Petitioner’s contention he would have entered a plea to the two lesser charges and proceeded to trial on the others.³ Accordingly, trial counsel cannot be deficient for not pursuing a plea bargain Petitioner may or may not have accepted.

² Pender is distinguishable from Petitioner’s case. There, the inmate alleged his attorney never initiated plea negotiations, while the State alleged it made a plea offer and the inmate declined it. Pender, 514 F. App’x at 360. In contrast, trial counsel here testified she engaged in plea negotiations but never received an offer suitable to Petitioner. Furthermore, the inmate in Pender was facing a mandatory life sentence. Id. at 361. Here, the trial judge retained discretion to sentence Petitioner if convicted. Interestingly, Respondent also notes Pender was remanded for an evidentiary hearing based on the discrepancy between the inmate’s and the State’s affidavits. Id. Therefore, the Pender court did not affirmatively state counsel’s performance was ineffective under the circumstances. Rather, it merely stated the inmate’s allegations raised a question of fact as to that issue. Id.

³ Petitioner testified at the evidentiary hearing he would have entered such a plea. However, he also testified he always denied his guilt to the remaining charges. This testimony is in stark contrast to trial counsel’s testimony, where she specifically recalled Petitioner admitting to committing a lewd act on the victim. The post-conviction judge found Petitioner’s testimony to be not credible on both accounts. (App. p. 580-81). See Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993) (this Court gives great deference to a PCR judge’s credibility findings).

Furthermore, trial counsel articulated a valid trial strategy for not attempting plea Petitioner to the assault and unlawful conduct charges. See Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 548, 419 S.E.2d 778, 779 (1992) (“Where, as here, counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” (citing Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992))). Trial counsel testified she believed it was prudent to let Petitioner admit on the stand his guilt to the assault and unlawful conduct charges. Such an admission would lend credibility to Petitioner’s testimony. His credible admission to guilt on those crimes would bolster his denial of guilt on the more serious crimes of criminal sexual conduct and lewd act. Such a decision is clearly reasonable trial strategy. See United States v. Leifried, 732 F.2d 388, 390 (4th Cir. 1984) (“Counsel’s decision to admit guilt on individual drug trafficking offenses where the evidence of guilt was overwhelming and attempt to persuade the jury of Leifried’s innocence of the continuing criminal enterprise charge was acceptable trial strategy.”). The prosecuting solicitor also conceded that, in his thirty (30) years of experience, it was common for defendants to strategically admit partial guilt in hopes the jury will reach a compromised verdict. Furthermore, Petitioner’s testimony indicates he understood this was the strategy trial counsel would employ at trial. Accordingly, the post-conviction judge properly found trial counsel had articulated a valid strategic reason for not pursuing an earlier plea to the assault and unlawful conduct charges.

Regardless, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate the outcome of his case would have been different had trial counsel pursued a plea to assault and unlawful conduct charges. The validity of trial counsel’s strategy to forgo such a plea is evident because the jury found Petitioner innocent of the criminal sexual conduct and lewd act charges. Although Petitioner complains about the length of his current sentence, he was facing a

mandatory minimum sentence of twenty-five (25) years. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655 (D)(1) (person convicted of first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor “must be imprisoned for a mandatory minimum of twenty-five years, no part of which may be suspended nor probation granted, or must be imprisoned for life.”). Petitioner cannot simply assume the jury would have found him not-guilty of the more serious sex crimes if he had not taken the stand and candidly admitted his guilt to the two other charges. To the contrary, an earlier plea to the two less serious charges would have allowed the State to use those charges to impeach Petitioner’s credibility. See Rule 609(a), SCRPC. Under the circumstances of this case, the record demonstrates Petitioner actually derived a benefit from trial counsel’s strategic decision to candidly admit guilt.

Petitioner does not stop his speculation at what the jury would have done if they heard different testimony. He also speculates as to what the trial judge would have done if presented a plea without negotiations or recommendations. Although defendants may be rewarded for admissions of guilt in a plea, a trial judge is strictly forbidden from punishing a defendant for exercising his right to a jury trial. State v. Hazel, 317 S.C. 368, 370, 453 S.E.2d 879, 880 (1995). Petitioner’s argument borders upon accusing the trial judge of punishing him for going to trial. However, no evidence in the record supports such an accusation.

Because no evidence indicates the trial judge punished Petitioner for electing a trial, Petitioner is left to speculate that his sentences would have been concurrent had he entered a plea. However, the decision to issue concurrent or consecutive sentences “is a matter left to the sound discretion of the trial judge.” State v. Barton, 325 S.C. 522, 531, 481 S.E.2d 439, 444 (Ct. App. 1997) (citing 21 Am. Jur. 2d Criminal Law § 552 (1981); Finley v. State, 219 S.C. 278, 64 S.E.2d 881 (1951)). The record does not indicate the

trial judge acted with “partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive” in issuing the consecutive sentences. Id. at 531-32, 481 S.E.2d at 444 (citing Stockton v. Leeke, 269 S.C. 459, 237 S.E.2d 896 (1977); State v. Franklin, 267 S.C. 240, 226 S.E.2d 896 (1976)). Instead, the record reflects the trial judge felt the nature of the injuries to the victim warranted a severe sentence. (App. p. 502, lines 7-17). Based on the facts and circumstances of this case, Petitioner has not shown any concrete evidence the trial judge would have sentenced him to concurrent sentence if he pled to the assault and unlawful conduct charges. See, e.g., Clark v. State, 315 S.C. 385, 388, 434 S.E.2d 266, 267 (1993) (finding of prejudice cannot be based on “pure conjecture”). Accordingly, the post-conviction judge properly found Petitioner had failed to demonstrate such a plea would have made a difference in the length of his sentence.

Because the record contains significant probative evidence trial counsel acted reasonably and within professional norms when implementing Petitioner’s trial strategy, and that no prejudice resulted from trial counsel’s actions, the post-conviction judge did not err in denying the application for post-conviction relief. Wolfe, 326 S.C. at 163, 485 S.E.2d at 369.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.